

Investment Agreement

(Grand Solutions)

[Project name]

File number: xxxxxx
Page 1 of 20



Innovation Fund Denmark
Europahuset

Europaplads 2, 4th floor DK-8000 Aarhus

The following parties:

CVR no.: 29 03 56 95

(hereinafter referred to as "IFD")

and

AA

Address

Postcode and town/city

CVR no.:

(hereinafter referred to as "AA")

and

XX

Address

Postcode and town/city

CVR no.:

(hereinafter referred to as "XX")

have with effect of [date] concluded this Investment Agreement relating to research, development and/or commercialisation based on an investment by IFD in the project [project name].

IFD Investment DKK	
Project period XX-XX-XXXX – XX-XX-XXXX	
Administrator (P-number)	

File number: xxxxxx Page 2 of 20



Contents

1.	EXHIBITS4
2.	DEFINITIONS4
	BACKGROUND, PURPOSE AND ACCESSION OF ADDITIONAL PROJECT RTICIPANTS5
4.	INVESTMENT AND PROJECT FUNDING6
5.	DISBURSEMENT AND USE OF THE INVESTMENT7
6.	REPORTING TO IFD AND REVIEW OF THE PROJECT8
7.	IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PROJECT
8.	PROJECT MANAGEMENT11
9.	DISSEMINATION14
10	. IFD'S COMMUNICATION ABOUT THE PROJECT15
11	. COLLABORATION AGREEMENT15
12	. LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION16
13	. COMMENCEMENT, DURATION, EXPIRY AND TERMINATION17
14	BREACH AND TERMINATION18
15	. PRECEDENCE, AMENDMENTS, NOTICES AND ASSIGNMENT19
16	. GOVERNING LAW AND LEGAL VENUE19
17	. SIGNATURES20



1. Exhibits

Exhibit 1: Project Plan

Exhibit 2: Organisation and Management

Exhibit 3: Budget

Exhibit 4 Rules of Procedure for the Steering Committee

(A Collaboration Agreement is a condition for, but not an integral part of the Investment Agreement)

2. Definitions

The following definitions shall apply:

- 2.1.1. "Administrator": has the meaning given to it in Clause 5.2.
- 2.1.2. "Agreement": the entire agreement comprising this Investment Agreement and its Exhibits, and subsequent amendments to such documents.
- 2.1.3. "Annual Scientific Report": refers to the scientific report and has the meaning given to it in Clause 6.3.2.
- 2.1.4. *"Biannual Financial Report"*: refers to the financial reports that must be submitted with a 6-month interval, and has the meaning given to it in Clause 6.3.2.
- 2.1.5. *"Budget"*: the aggregate project budget and the Project Parties' respective contributions thereto, annexed to the Investment Agreement as Exhibit 3.
- 2.1.6. *"Collaboration Agreement"*: the agreement concluded between the Project Participants governing their collaboration.
- 2.1.7. *"Final Report"*: includes a Scientific Report and a Financial Report, and has the meaning given to it in Clause 6.4.1.
- 2.1.8. *"General Terms"*: refers to General Terms and Conditions for Grand Solutions of January 9, 2024.
- 2.1.9. *"Guidelines for Grand Solutions"* refers to Guidelines: Grand Solutions of March 17, 2023 for the Grand Solutions programme.
- 2.1.10. *"IFD"*: the Innovation Fund Denmark, as established by the Minister for Higher Education and Science pursuant to consolidated act no. 1660 of August 12, 2021.
- 2.1.11. *"Investment Agreement"*: this investment agreement with subsequent amendments, but exclusive of its Exhibits. See also the definition of "Agreement".



- 2.1.12. *"Investment Criteria"*: the terms and conditions and criteria, including assessment criteria, and prerequisites on which IFD has based its decision to invest in the Project. These criteria can be found, inter alia, in IFD's "Guidelines for Grand Solutions".
- 2.1.13. "Investment Officer": the representative(s) of IFD appointed by IFD under Clause 8.1.13 who keep(s) an ongoing dialogue with the Project Leader during the Project and participate(s) in the Steering Committee meetings.
- 2.1.14. *"Investment Period"*: the period defined in the Project Plan during which IFD invests in the Project.
- 2.1.15. "Investment Review": review of the Project, including scientific, budget-related and administrative aspects, as detailed in Clause 6.2.
- 2.1.16. "Milestones": the milestones described in the Project Plan.
- 2.1.17. "Party": each of the Project Participants and IFD.
- 2.1.18. "Project": the project described in the Project Plan.
- 2.1.19. *"Project Contributor"*: the legal entities besides the Project Partners that signs or subsequently accedes to the Agreement as a "Project Contributor", see Clause 3.4.
- 2.1.20. *"Project Leader"*: the project leader appointed by the Steering Committee and approved by IFD, see Clause 8.2.1.
- 2.1.21. "Project Participant": each of the Project Partners and Project Contributors.
- 2.1.22. *"Project Partner"*: the legal entities that sign or subsequently accede to the Agreement as "Project Partners", see Clause 3.4.
- 2.1.23. "Project Plan": plan with information on IFD's investment and the Project Participants as well as description of the content of the Project, including Milestones and success criteria, annexed to the Investment Agreement as Exhibit 1, with subsequent amendments, see Clause 6.1.4, Clause 6.2 and Clause 7.3.
- 2.1.24. "Steering Committee": the steering committee appointed by the Project Partners and approved by IFD, see Clause 8.1.

Unless otherwise specifically stated, references to clauses in this document shall be understood as references to clauses in the Investment Agreement. Unless otherwise specifically stated, references to exhibits are references to exhibits to the Investment Agreement. References to acts and rules shall be understood as references to acts and rules in force with subsequent amendments.

3. Background, purpose and accession of additional Project Participants

3.1. The purpose of the Agreement is to describe the Project Participants' collaboration regarding the Project cf. the Project Plan, and to describe the conditions governing IFD's investment and



- the Project Participants' receipt and use of IFD's investment. As stated in Clause 13.2, the Investment Agreement is conditional upon the Project being initiated within a given deadline.
- 3.2. This Agreement does not limit or restrain IFD's exercise of discretion within the framework of consolidated act no. 1660 of August 12, 2021, administrative order (regulation) no. 384 of April 26, 2017 or other laws and regulations.
- 3.3. The Project Participants have entered into a Collaboration Agreement, governing their collaboration, including in relation to exploitation and distribution of any results and derived intellectual property rights arising in connection with the Project. See also Clause 11 below.
- It is a condition for a Project Participant's entitlement to a share of IFD's invested funds, and for the Project Participant's acquisition of rights under this Investment Agreement, that the Project Participant signs this Investment Agreement in connection with its conclusion or subsequently accedes to the Investment Agreement as a Party by signing an accession agreement. When a Project Participant has signed such an accession agreement, and when the accession agreement has been signed by the Chair of the Steering Committee and the Project Leader, and finally by IFD, the Project Participant in question is a Party to the Agreement. The decision to include new Project Participants as Parties to the Agreement shall be made by the Steering Committee in accordance with Clause 8.1.5. Inclusion of any new Project Participants shall, however, be valid only with written consent of IFD, confirmed by the signature of IFD on the accession agreement. IFD requires that new Project Participants meet the conditions on which IFD based its assessment of the Project and the existing Project Participants, i.e. the Investment Criteria, and hence IFD may refuse to approve a new Project Participant if the latter does not, in the assessment of IFD, meet the criteria. See also Clause 11. Furthermore, new company participants must fill in and sign 1A) Declaration on status as 'an undertaking not in difficulty', and if relevant, the following declarations: 1B) Declaration on de minimis rules of state funding, and 1C) Declaration on status as SME and state funding.

4. Investment and project funding

- 4.1. IFD invests DKK [x] in the Project in the Investment Period, however, see Clause 6.1.4 and Clause 6.2 regarding adjustment of IFD's investment. The total project costs and the distribution of the investment between the various Project Participants appear from the Budget. See also Clause 5, Clause 6.1.4 and Clause 6.2.
- 4.2. If the Project Participants obtain full or partial funding of their contributions to the Project from other public- or private-sector councils, foundations, entities, etc., IFD must be notified thereof in writing within 30 days. IFD has the right, but no obligation, to offset such other funding against its investment. However, IFD has an obligation to perform set-off in its investment if a Project Participant that is an entity obtains aggregate public-sector co-funding that exceeds the permitted maximum according to the EU rules on state funding. A Project Participant's entitlement to receive funds from IFD is conditional upon the prior signing and submission by the Project Participant to IFD of any such statements and such information as IFD may require in relation to ensuring compliance with the EU rules on state funding.
- 4.3. No Party shall be ordered to contribute further resources to the Project or to otherwise bear costs beyond what is the responsibility of that Party in accordance with the Budget in force at any time. Hence, without the prior written consent of the Project Participant in question,



amendments to the Budget (see e.g. Clause 6.1.4 and Clause 6.2), shall not result in such Project Participant being ordered to contribute further resources to the Project or otherwise bearing costs beyond what is the responsibility of the Party as per the Budget applying at the time, or in any change of the size of the Project Participant's sub-payments or the time of their payment/contribution to the disadvantage of the Project Participant. Each Project Participant shall ultimately bear any costs incurred by such Project Participant in excess of the Budget. Throughout the Project, Project Participants shall avoid unnecessary consumption of resources and shall specifically justify extraordinary acquisitions etc. during the last six (6) months of the Investment Period. The Budget cannot be amended without the prior written approval of IFD.

5. Disbursement and use of the investment

- 5.1. The investment by IFD must be used for direct project-related costs, i.e. costs that are directly attributable to the Project, see IFD's "Guidelines for Grand Solutions".
- 5.2. Disbursement of IFD's investment shall take place by transfer to one of the Project Partners appointed by the Steering Committee and approved by IFD as administrator in terms of receiving and distributing the funds invested by IFD (the "Administrator"). The Administrator shall be responsible for ensuring that the sums disbursed by IFD are paid out to the Project Participants in accordance with the Financial Report and Project Plan.
- 5.3. IFD may lay down a number of requirements in connection with the appointment of the Administrator as conditions for approving the Administrator, including that the Administrator's financial solvency is acceptable to IFD, that one or more relevant third parties guarantee the Administrator's compliance with its obligations under the Agreement, or that the Administrator is organised in a manner that is reassuring to IFD in terms of the Administrator's obligations under the Agreement. IFD may at any time demand that a new Administrator is appointed if the existing Administrator does not, in the opinion of IFD, meet its obligations under the Agreement, or if, in the assessment of IFD, there is a risk that the existing Administrator will be unable to meet its obligations under the Agreement.
- 5.4. Disbursements from IFD take place in accordance with IFD's "General Terms and Conditions for Grand Solutions". Disbursements take place on the basis of the most recently approved Financial Report. No Project Participant shall be entitled to a share of the funds invested by IFD unless such entitlement is stated in the Budget.
- 5.5. As described in Clause 13.4 and Clause 14, IFD shall be entitled to permanently discontinue all disbursement of funds if IFD on the basis of an Investment Review under Clause 6.2 or another review under Clause 6.5 finds that the Project is not making sufficient progress, or if minutes of Steering Committee meetings or Annual Scientific or Biannual Financial Reports have not been received on time, or if the said minutes or reports have not been prepared in accordance with the applicable rules and guidelines, see Clause 6.3. IFD may choose to temporarily discontinue disbursement of funds, in full or in part, until such matters have been rectified.
- 5.6. Furthermore, IFD shall be entitled to permanently discontinue all disbursements of funds to a Project Participant if the latter becomes subject to insolvency proceedings as detailed in Clause 13.4, ²ⁿd paragraph. IFD may choose to, but need not, temporarily discontinue disbursement of funds, in full or in part, if IFD receives information giving IFD reason to assume that the Project Participant will become subject to such insolvency proceedings. If a Project Participant



becomes aware that a petition has been filed for financial restructuring, insolvency or liquidation proceedings in relation to the Project Participant, or if a Project Participant becomes aware that the Danish Business Authority has asked the courts for compulsory dissolution of the Project Participant, or if the Project Participant becomes aware that one or more of the situations referred to in section 18 of the Danish Insolvency Act applies in relation to the Project Participant, the relevant Project Participant shall immediately inform IFD, the Project Leader and the Administrator thereof in writing, and the Administrator shall not subsequently disburse any funds to that Project Participant without the prior written approval of IFD.

- 5.7. Disbursement of the Final Instalment, see IFD's "General Terms and Conditions for Grand Solutions", shall be conditional upon IFD having received the Final Scientific and Financial Reports on time, on these Final Reports having been prepared in accordance with all applicable rules and guidelines, and on IFD having approved the Final Reports. Furthermore, disbursement of the Final Instalment shall be conditional upon IFD having received and approved the Final Scientific and final Financial Report for the Project.
- 5.8. If IFD demands repayment of funds during the course of the Project, this shall be done by contacting the Project Leader and the Administrator. The relevant Project Participants shall, without undue delay, transfer funds to the Administrator so that repayment to IFD can take place. See also the "General Terms and Conditions for Grand Solutions" regarding repayment of funds disbursed.
- 5.9. The Project Participants shall, without undue delay, provide the Administrator with all necessary information for disbursement and transfer of IFD's investment. If such materials and information are not provided on time, IFD's investment cannot be disbursed.

6. Reporting to IFD and review of the Project

- 6.1. Steering Committee meeting documents, minutes and project changes
- 6.1.1. IFD shall monitor the progress of the Project throughout the Investment Period via an ongoing dialogue with the Project Leader and the Project Participants and via participation in Steering Committee meetings, including by receiving agendas and minutes of Steering Committee meetings.
- 6.1.2. IFD shall receive documents for Steering Committee meetings at least one (1) week before each meeting and shall receive the minutes of Steering Committee meetings within fourteen (14) days after the meeting was held.
- 6.1.3. IFD may at any time request, via the Project Leader, that the Project Partners report in detail on the progress of the Project. The deadline for such reporting shall be ten (10) weekdays from the request and cannot take place in connection with a Steering Committee meeting.
- 6.1.4. The Steering Committee must request IFD to approve an amendment to the Project Plan or the Budget, including reducing IFD's investment, and extending or shortening the Investment Period. The request must be submitted in writing and substantiated, and it must await written approval from IFD before being implemented. The Project Plan or the Budget must subsequently be updated to reflect the decisions, and the amendments made must be binding for all Project Participants, however, see Clause 4.3 and Clause 7.3.



6.2. Investment Review

- 6.2.1. IFD may perform an Investment Review together with the Steering Committee and any experts that IFD wishes to involve. The Project Leader and the Administrator shall assist IFD and the Steering Committee in connection with the Investment Review(s). An Investment Review shall comprise a review and assessment of the Project status and expected development from a scientific perspective, including in relation to results, and from a financial/budget-related, time-related and administrative/organisational perspective as specified by IFD. An Investment Review shall be based on input from the Steering Committee, the Project Leader and the Administrator as well as any further information requested by IFD or the Steering Committee from the Project Participants in connection with the review. The Project Participants shall provide all required information and assistance in connection with the performance of the review.
- 6.2.2. Unless IFD finds that there is no basis for continuing the Project, see Clause 13.4 and Clause 14, IFD and the Steering Committee shall, based on the Investment Review, jointly decide whether there is a need to amend the Project Plan and/or the Budget, including whether there is a basis for reducing IFD's investment, and whether it is relevant to extend or shorten the Investment Period. The Project Plan and/or the Budget shall be updated to reflect such decisions, and the amendments made shall be binding on all Project Participants, however, see Clause 4.3 and Clause 7.3.

6.3. Annual, Scientific Reports and Biannual, Financial Reports

- 6.3.1. IFD shall biannually receive a report (the "Biannual Financial Report") containing financial reporting in the form of accounts for the Project. The report period shall be from January to June and from July to December of each calendar year. The accounts shall be prepared and presented in accordance with IFD's "General Terms and Conditions for Grand Solutions", see Clause 5.4, which, inter alia, state whether the accounts and the sub-accounts of the respective Project Participants shall be audited prior to submission. The Biannual financial Report for a given period shall be received by IFD within the deadline stated in IFD's "General Terms and Conditions for Grand Solutions", and shall be approved by the Steering Committee prior to submission to IFD.
- 6.3.2. IFD shall annually receive a report (the "Annual Scientific Report") containing information of the Project's scientific status and progress, including descriptions and documentation of results achieved, and status relative to observance of Project Milestones and to the success criteria laid down in the Project Plan. The scientific reporting shall be based on the scientific and economic status for the project, the project progress and value creation, leadership and collaboration, and if relevant, the Investment Review described in Clause 6.2. The Annual Scientific Report for a given period shall be received by IFD within the deadline stated in IFD's "General Terms and Conditions for Grand Solutions" and shall be approved by the Steering Committee prior to submission to IFD.
- 6.3.3. The Project Participants shall ultimately be responsible for the Reports and their preparation. Project Participants shall, without undue delay, supply the Project Leader with all necessary materials for use in connection with the preparation of the Reports. The Project Leader shall be responsible for ensuring that the Steering Committee receives drafts of Reports for approval and that IFD subsequently receives the approved Reports by the deadline stated, see Clauses 6.3.1 and 6.3.2. The Administrator shall assist the Project Leader in the preparation of the draft Reports.



6.4. Final Report and follow-up

- 6.4.1. Immediately after the completion of the Project and not later than three (3) months after the expiry of the Investment Period, the Project Leader shall submit a written final report in respect of the Project (the "Final Report"). The Project Participants shall contribute to the preparation of the Final Report, and the principles stated in Clause 6.3.3 shall apply relative to the preparation of the Final Report. The Final Report shall be prepared in accordance with IFD's "General Terms and Conditions for Grand Solutions", see Clause 5.4. As part of the evaluation of the Project and the preparation of the Final Report, the Project Participants undertake to be at the disposal of IFD.
- 6.4.2. For up to three (3) years after the completion of the Project, the Project Participants undertake to participate in IFD's annual Project Follow-ups.
- 6.5. IFD's reviews of the Project
- 6.5.1. In addition to the Investment Reviews, see Clause 6.2, IFD may at any given time during the Investment Period decide to perform a review of the Project in relation to scientific aspects, including in relation to results, and in relation to financial/budget-related, time-related and administrative/organisational aspects. In connection with such reviews, IFD may involve one or more independent external assessors. The independent external assessors may e.g. be involved in assessing whether one or more of IFD's Investment Criteria and/or Milestones and/or tasks laid down in the Project Plan have been fulfilled by the Project Participants, see Clause 7.1. The Project Participants, the Project Leader and the Administrator shall provide all required information and assistance in connection with the performance of the review. See Clause 13.4 regarding IFD's right to terminate the Investment Agreement and Clause 14 regarding IFD's right to terminate the Investment for breach.

7. Implementation of the Project

- 7.1. The Project Participants must observe the Milestones and perform the tasks described in the Project Plan.
- 7.2. The Project Participants shall perform their respective project tasks with a view to the Project contributing to promoting the objectives on the basis of which IFD has made the investment, see the Act referred to in Clause 2.1.10, and which are reflected in the Investment Criteria.
- 7.3. If IFD and the Project Partners, either in connection with Investment Review(s), see Clause 6.2, or otherwise, see Clause 6.1.4, agree that it is appropriate to amend the Milestones, Investment Period, Budget or the tasks described in the Project Plan, the Project Partners shall, via the Steering Committee, prepare an amended Budget and/or a revised Project Plan describing the new investment Period or the new Milestones and tasks. The revised Project Plan and/or amended Budget shall be submitted to IFD in writing and is subject to approval by IFD. The Project Participants shall observe the Milestones and perform the tasks described in the Project Plan applying at any time.
- 7.4. The Project Participants shall contribute the required materials, staff, facilities, equipment, etc. to the Project as described in the Project Plan, however, see Clause 4.3. The Project Participants shall drive forward the Project, making the best possible use of the resources allocated to the Project.



- 7.5. The Project shall be carried out and financial contributions made in accordance with the guidelines stated in the Project Plan, the Budget and IFD's "General Terms and Conditions for Grand Solutions", see Clause 5.4.
- 7.6. IFD attaches importance to Responsible Research and Innovation (RRI), which aims to strengthen the links between research and innovation processes and results and societal values and needs. IFD advances RRI in its overall strategies and in connection with its projects. The European Commission's definition and implementation of RRI and IFD's encouragement to Project Participants to abide by RRI can be found at https://innovationsfonden.dk/en/aboutinnovation-fund-denmark. IFD also supports the principles outlined in the Danish Code of Conduct for Research Integrity, https://ufm.dk/publikationer/2015/den-danske-kodeks-forintegritet-i-forskning. The Project Participants shall observe the Code of Conduct and hence accept and subscribe to these principles. IFD has adopted the rules laid down in "Open Access Policy for public-sector research councils and foundations". This means that published scientific articles which are the result of full funding or co-funding by IFD are to be made freely available to the public domain via Open Access if the publisher consents. The Project Participants accept and subscribe to these principles. The wording of these policies can be found via links from IFD's website. Furthermore, IFD supports the guidelines for international research and innovation cooperation formulated by the Committee for Guidelines on International Research and Innovation Cooperation (URIS).
- 7.7. The Parties accept that although the Project is completed satisfactorily, this does not necessarily mean that the results stated in the Project Plan, expected or desired are achieved or realised. Hence, the Parties assume no responsibility for such achievement or realisation of results via-à-vis one or more of the other Parties or any other responsibility in relation to the other Parties' expectations in terms of Project results. See Clause 13.4 regarding IFD's right to terminate the Investment Agreement with reference to the Investment Criteria.

8. Project management

- 8.1. Steering Committee
- 8.1.1. The Project Partners shall appoint a Steering Committee comprising representatives from each of the participating Project Partners. The Steering Committee shall appoint a Chair and a Vice-chair, who together with the Project Leader represent the Project vis-à-vis the outside world. The IFD shall approve the members of the Steering Committee and the Project Leader. The Steering Committee shall operate on the basis of the Rules of Procedure annexed to the Investment Agreement as Exhibit 4.
- 8.1.2. The Steering Committee is the supreme decision-making body in relation to the Project and responsible for its completion. The Steering Committee shall serve the overall interests of the Project and the Project Participants. Within the framework of the Investment Agreement, the Project Plan and the Budget, the Steering Committee shall lay down the strategy for the Project and its implementation.
- 8.1.3. Decisions of the Steering Committee shall have binding effect, not only on the Project Partners but also on the Project Contributors, however, see Clause 4.3 and Clause 7.3.
- 8.1.4. The Steering Committee shall monitor the development and progress of the Project and make decisions to ensure that interaction between the Project Participants as well as the



organisation, management and resource allocation of the Project facilitate realisation of the Milestones and tasks described in the Project Plan, and to ensure that the Project is making sufficient progress. Among other things, the Steering Committee shall ensure that Project Participants collaborate in relation to common targets throughout the Investment Period and, if necessary, initiate adjustments to the Project Plan and Project organisation, see Clause 6.1.4, Clause 6.2 and Clause 7.3.

- 8.1.5. The Steering Committee shall make decisions regarding the inclusion of new Project Participants, including whether they shall accede to the Agreement as "Project Partners" or as "Project Contributors". The Steering Committee shall observe the provisions of the Project Plan regarding the inclusion of new Project Participants. Pursuant to the Investment Agreement, the existing Project Participants authorise the Chair of the Steering Committee and the Project Leader jointly to sign accession agreements with binding effect on all Project Participants, however, see Clause 3.4. Inclusion of new Project Participants shall be subject to observance of the provisions of Clause 4.3 and Clause 7.3. The Project Plan shall be updated to reflect the accession of new Project Participants.
- 8.1.6. The Steering Committee shall ensure that both Project management and administration are taken into account throughout the Investment Period.
- 8.1.7. The Steering Committee shall supervise the work of the Project Leader and may lay down guidelines for and instruct the Project Leader in his/her work. The Steering Committee may at any time require that the Project Leader report to the Steering Committee, either in writing or at a meeting, on issues of relevance to the Project.
- 8.1.8. The Steering Committee shall supervise the Administrator and if so requested by IFD may at any time require that the Administrator provides information about disbursements by IFD and about the Administrator's distribution of the funds to Project Participants.
- 8.1.9. The Steering Committee may decide to replace the Project Leader and/or the Administrator. Appointment of a new Project Leader or Administrator shall require the prior approval of IFD. The Steering Committee shall replace the Project Leader and/or the Administrator if IFD requires this, see Clause 8.2.1 and Clause 5.3.
- 8.1.10. The Steering Committee must ensure the financial and scientific management of the Project and must approve minutes of Steering Committee meetings and the Annual Scientific and Biannual Financial Reports. The Steering Committee must also approve the Final Report.
- 8.1.11. The Steering Committee shall meet at least twice a year, once in each half of the year.
- 8.1.12. IFD shall monitor the progress of the Project and supervise use of the funds invested in the Project; however, this shall not limit the liability of the Steering Committee and the Project Participants in relation to use of the funds invested.
- 8.1.13. IFD shall appoint one or two (1-2) Investment Officers to monitor the work of the Steering Committee. The Investment Officers appointed by IFD shall not be members of the Steering Committee, but are purely observers, and hence such Investment Officers shall not be entitled to vote at Steering Committee meetings. The Investment Officers appointed shall, however, have the right to attend and speak at all Steering Committee meetings, and IFD or any Investment Officer may convene a Steering Committee meeting and put separate items on the agenda of a Steering Committee meeting.



- 8.1.14. IFD and any Investment Officer(s) appointed may require that not only Steering Committee members and Investment Officers but also relevant specialists attend Steering Committee meetings and that these specialists are given the right to speak at the meetings.
- 8.1.15. IFD and/or the Investment Officer(s) appointed by IFD can in no way be held liable for the work of the Steering Committee, including for decisions made by the Steering Committee at its meetings, irrespective of whether any Investment Officer have participated in the Steering Committee meetings or have otherwise participated in the work of the Steering Committee. This shall also apply to any non-observance by the Steering Committee of its obligations under the Agreement.

8.2. Project Leader

- 8.2.1. The Steering Committee shall appoint a Project Leader, who must be approved by IFD. In this context, IFD may lay down a number of requirements as conditions for approving the Project Leader, including that the Project Leader has relevant professional experience and relevant project management experience. IFD may at any time require that a new Project Leader be appointed if the existing Project Leader does not, in the assessment of IFD, meet his/her obligations under the Agreement or if, in the assessment of IFD, there is a risk that the existing Project Leader will be unable to meet his/her obligations under the Agreement.
- 8.2.2. The Project Leader is supervised by and receives instructions from the Steering Committee. The Project Leader participates in the meetings of the Steering Committee with the right to speak but not to vote.
- 8.2.3. The Project Leader shall have the day-to-day responsibility for the Project and its implementation, including coordination of activities between Project Participants.
- 8.2.4. Dispositions which are of an unusual nature relative to the content of the Project or have a major impact on the Project shall be made only by special authority from the Steering Committee.
- 8.2.5. In relation to IFD, the Project Leader shall always represent and act on behalf of the overall Project.
- 8.2.6. In communication with the Project Leader regarding the Project and its implementation, all notices and information given by IFD to the Project Leader shall be deemed to have been given to all Project Participants at the same time. However, see Clause 15.3 on notices to Project Participants in relation to the Investment Agreement.
- 8.2.7. In addition to the responsibilities arising out of the Investment Agreement and the Steering Committee's instructions, the Project Leader shall be responsible for ensuring:
 - that an initial Steering Committee meeting is held with the participation of the Investment Officer(s) and all Project Partners within one (1) month from the commencement of the Project.
 - that the Steering Committee is kept informed of Project progress.
 - <u>that</u> an ongoing dialogue is maintained with IFD; in this connection, the Project Leader shall, without undue delay, inform IFD of any material circumstances of significance to the Project and/or IFD's investment.



- that optimum use is made of Project resources.
- that information from IFD is passed on to all other Project Participants.
- <u>that</u> the minutes of Steering Committee meetings described in Clause 6.1 are prepared and submitted to IFD in a timely manner.
- <u>that</u> he/she assists the Administrator in connection with disbursements from and repayments to IFD.
- that drafts are prepared for the Annual Scientific and Biannual Financial Reports and the
 Final Report and that the Reports are approved by the Steering Committee and are
 submitted to IFD in a timely manner. The Project Leader shall collaborate with the
 Administrator in connection with the preparation of the Reports and in connection with
 other reporting on financial aspects of the Project.

9. Dissemination

- 9.1. Project Participants shall ensure that references to Project activities in various media clearly indicate that this is a project that has received IFD funding.
- 9.2. Any publication, report or other material published by Project Participants and containing references to the Project and/or results achieved in connection with the Project shall state that the Project has received funding from IFD, and the IFD logo shall be included in the material. However, the IFD logo may be omitted in scientific publications, etc., to the extent that it is not customary to use logos.
- 9.3. Once a year during the Investment Period and during the year after completion of the Project, IFD may require the Project Participants to prepare a short description of the Project and the Project status and make illustrations available for IFD's annual public report, website, newsletter etc. The material shall be produced in Danish and English. The deadline for submission of such material shall be determined by IFD, and the Steering Committee and the Project Leader shall, on behalf of the Project Participants, be responsible for ensuring that IFD receives the material on time.
- 9.4. Any publication, report or other material published by the Project Participants in connection with the Project as described in Clause 9.2 shall upon request from IFD be submitted to IFD electronically before its publication. Unless otherwise stated in the Investment Agreement, no party may use the logos, trademarks or other features of the other Parties in press releases or for marketing purposes without the prior written approval of the relevant Party.
- 9.5. IFD may lay down more detailed guidelines for the rights and obligations stated in this Clause 9. Furthermore, IFD may require that Project Participants set up and maintain a website providing information about the Project. The Steering Committee and the Project Leader shall be responsible for the set-up and maintenance of such website on behalf of the Project Participants.



10. IFD's communication about the Project

- 10.1. In accordance with IFD's "Guidelines for Grand Solutions", IFD will publish an overview of the applications receiving investment commitments. The Project Participants agree that, irrespective of this Clause 10, IFD may, in connection with the publication described in the guidelines, use the text from the application form with the short popular description. Furthermore, the Project Participants consent to IFD disclosing the names of the Project Participants, the Project title and duration, and key figures regarding the investment (including its size), on IFD's website (www.innovationsfonden.dk) and in its publications, or in other national research databases.
- 10.2. Should IFD otherwise wish to communicate to the public about the Project and/or results achieved in connection with the Project, IFD shall inform the Project Leader thereof in writing, stating the information that IFD plans to communicate.
- 10.3. Communication to the public by IFD, see Clause 10.2, of the Project and/or results achieved in connection with the Project shall require the approval of all Project Participants. If no Project Participant within thirty (30) days from receipt of written notice from IFD, see Clause 10.2, has approved or rejected IFD's request to communicate information, IFD may in writing give the Project Participants fourteen (14) days to approve IFD's request or to reject it in writing, in which connection the grounds for such rejection shall be stated. If IFD's request has still not been replied to, this shall be deemed to be acceptance of IFD's planned communication to the public.
- 10.4. The scope or content of IFD's communication of information about the Project and/or results achieved in connection with the Project to the public shall never prevent or impede protection, including protection of intellectual property rights, of results achieved in connection with the Project.
- 10.5. In accordance with the "Guidelines for the Public on the Private Financing of Research at State Institutions" of January 13, 2000, state research institutions must disclose certain details relating to private co-funding of their research. In addition to the contents of Clause 10.1, the Project Participants accept that the Project title, the names of the Project Participants and the size of the investment/funding are disclosed in accordance with the said guidelines.

11. Collaboration Agreement

- 11.1. It is a condition for obtaining investment from IFD that the Project Participants have entered into and signed a Collaboration Agreement on ownership and exploitation of the results and derived intellectual property rights arising in connection with the Project.
- 11.2. Furthermore, it is a condition that the Collaboration Agreement includes provisions ensuring that a Project Participant's accession to the Investment Agreement, see Clause 3.4, entails that the Project Participant accedes to the Collaboration Agreement at the same time, so that the Project Participant becomes a Party to the entire Agreement. A Project Participant cannot accede to the Collaboration Agreement without acceding to the Investment Agreement at the same time.



- 11.3. In the Collaboration Agreement, the Project Partners shall ensure that any Project Contributors undertake obligations vis-à-vis the Project Partners that will allow the Project Partners to observe the special obligations imposed on the Project Partners under the Investment Agreement and its Exhibits.
- 11.4. IFD is not a party to and assumes no liability in relation to the Collaboration Agreement, see Clause 12.2.

12. Liability and indemnification

- 12.1. Each Project Participant warrants to IFD:
- 12.1.1. that the Project Participant in question is not aware of and to the best of its knowledge does not in connection with its performance of and participation in the Project in any way violate or contribute to infringement of any third party's rights, including in relation to consultancy, information or other contributions made by that Project Participant, its employees or students in connection with the Project.
- 12.1.2. that the Project Participant in question has, to the best of its knowledge, acquired all necessary authorisations, licences, approvals and consents required in order to enter into this Agreement and participate in the Project.
- 12.1.3. that the Project Participant in question will at all times observe the basic legal, regulatory and ethical principles applying to the specific Project area and execution, including, but not limited to, the principles listed in Clauses 7.6.
- 12.1.4. that the Project Participant in question will comply with the legislation in force at any time in connection with the Agreement and the execution of the Project, including, but not limited to, legislation and regulation concerning state funding, competition law, legislation on and regulation of corruption and money laundering, any national, foreign and international export control legislation, regulation, convention and sanction and any instructions from IFD aimed at ensuring such compliance.
- 12.1.5. that the Project Participant in question will at all times observe the rules listed in Clause 7.3 regarding written approval from IFD regarding material changes to the Project Plan or Project Budget resulting in amendments to the Investment Agreement.
- 12.1.6. that the Project Participant in question has, to the best of its knowledge, notified IFD in the event of funding for the activities or parts thereof received from other sources (see Clause 4.2).
- 12.2. The Project Participants shall never and cannot hold IFD responsible for circumstances unrelated to IFD's obligations as specifically stated in the Investment Agreement. For example, Project Participants cannot hold IFD responsible for circumstances relating to the Exhibits to the Investment Agreement and/or the Project Participants' rights and obligations under these Exhibits, irrespective of whether the IFD logo is printed on the Exhibits and irrespective of whether IFD was aware of, had reviewed, assessed, approved, accepted, signed or otherwise contributed to the drawing-up of the Exhibits.



13. Commencement, duration, expiry and termination

- 13.1. The Investment Agreement and Investment Period shall commence on [insert date]. The Investment Period is [x] year(s) and [x] months, unless amended in accordance with Clause 6.1.4, Clause 6.2 or Clause 7.3. Unless terminated earlier, see this Clause 13 and Clause 14, the Investment Agreement shall continue in force until the expiry of the Investment Period, when it shall cease immediately and without notice. Termination of the Investment Agreement, irrespective of the cause, shall entail immediate expiry of the Investment Period.
- 13.2. Irrespective of Clause 13.1, the Investment Agreement shall automatically be terminated if the Project has not been commenced within three (3) months from the date when the Investment Agreement enters into force, see Clause 13.1. If IFD prior to the expiry of the said period of three (3) months from the Project Leader has received an account approved by the Steering Committee stating the reasons for the delay, and IFD on the basis of this account finds that the grounds for the delay are reasonable and that the Project is still relevant, IFD may decide that the Investment Agreement shall not be terminated, despite the delay. However, if the Investment Agreement is terminated in accordance with this Clause 13.2, IFD will require that any funds disbursed are repaid by the Project Participants, and the Project Leader and the Administrator shall assist IFD in connection with such repayment.
- 13.3. Project Participants may terminate the Investment Agreement and depart from it giving three (3) months' notice to the end of a month. A Project Participant who terminates and departs from the Investment Agreement in accordance with this provision shall provide written reasons for such termination, but the right of termination shall not be conditional thereupon.
- 13.4. IFD may terminate the Investment Agreement in writing (for one or more Project Participants) giving three (3) months' notice to the end of a month if IFD based on its free assessment, including a scientific assessment finds
 - (i): on the basis of a review under Clause 6.2 or Clause 6.5, (A) that the Project does not meet one or more of IFD's Investment Criteria, or (B) that the Project is not making sufficient progress. This shall include, but not be limited to, situations where the Project in general is not making progress as assumed in the Project Plan timeline, or situations where it turns out that the basic assumptions on which the Project is based no longer exist, or
 - (ii) that one or more of the Project Participant(s) do(es) not observe the Milestones and/or perform the tasks described in the Project Plan and/or the Budget, or
 - (iii) a change in the Project Participant's/Participants' circumstances, including e.g. professional, scientific, financial and/or organisational circumstances entailing that the Project Participant(s) no longer meet(s) IFD's Investment Criteria.

IFD may terminate the Investment Agreement in writing with immediate effect vis-à-vis a Project Participant which is subject to insolvent liquidation or to financial restructuring proceedings.

After the expiry of the period of notice, a final Financial Report shall be prepared for the Project or the Project Participant(s) departing. On the basis of this Financial Report, the funds due/owing shall be disbursed or charged by IFD, and the terminated Project Participant(s) shall not receive any further share of the funds invested by IFD. The Project Leader and the Administrator shall jointly prepare the final Financial Report and present them for approval by the Steering Committee and IFD by a deadline set by IFD.



- IFD may also terminate the Investment Agreement in the event of breach as described in Clause 14.
- 13.5. If the Investment Agreement is terminated under Clause 13.3 or Clause 13.4, all Parties shall, unless otherwise agreed, continue to work loyally on the Project until the period of notice expires.

14. Breach and termination

- 14.1. If one or more Project Participants commit material breach of the Investment Agreement, IFD may terminate the Investment Agreement in writing with immediate effect for the Project Participant(s) in question, however, see Clause 14.3. In the event of material breach of the Investment Agreement by one or more Project Participant(s), Project Participants not in breach may request IFD to terminate the Investment Agreement in relation to the Project Participant(s) in breach. If IFD, in a situation where termination is possible, does not, within one (1) month from the request, comply with the request to terminate the Investment Agreement in relation to one or more Project Participants which are in material breach, the requesting Project Participants not in breach may terminate their own participation in the Investment Agreement giving a short notice of five (5) days. If IFD commits material breach of the Investment Agreement, the Project Participants may terminate the Investment Agreement in writing with immediate effect, however, see Clause 14.3.
- 14.2. The situations that constitute material breach shall be determined in accordance with the general provisions of Danish law, but the following shall always be deemed to be material breach:
- 14.2.1. Project Participants' non-payment of financial contributions in accordance with the Project Plan or the Budget.
- 14.2.2. Non-timely submission of an Annual Scientific Report or Biannual Financial report, see Clause6.3, non-timely submission of other reports to IFD or submission of reports that are not in compliance with the rules and guidelines laid down by IFD.
- 14.2.3. Infringement by Project Participants of third-party rights, non-fulfilment by Project Participants of the indemnities stated in Clauses 4.2 (including EU-funds) and 12.1, and misuse of confidential information.
- 14.2.4. If IFD is entitled to revoke a commitment or decision regarding an investment, to cease the investment, and/or to retract any remaining investment amount, as well as to demand the repayment of already disbursed sums, inter alia in accordance with Section 10 of administrative order (regulation) no. 1150 of October 25, 2017.
- 14.2.5. If IFD has not immediately been informed in writing vis-à-vis a Project Participant, which is subject to insolvent liquidation or to financial restructuring proceedings, see Clauses 5.6 and 13.4, 2nd paragraph.
- 14.2.6. If Project Participants do not comply with the EU rules on state funding.
- 14.3. However, if the breach can be rectified, the Investment Agreement shall be terminated only if the Party in breach has received a registered letter demanding it to do so, stating the nature of



- the breach, and has not rectified the matter within fourteen (14) days from the date when the demand was sent.
- 14.4. In the event of material breach on the part of a Project Participant, IFD may demand that all funding received by the Project Participant in breach from IFD be repaid within a deadline set by IFD. The Project Leader and the Administrator shall assist IFD in connection with such repayment.

15. Precedence, amendments, notices and assignment

- 15.1. The Investment Agreement shall be mandatory and shall in all respects take precedence over other documents and agreements, including the Collaboration Agreement.
- 15.2. No amendments to the Investment Agreement shall be valid unless they have been approved in writing by all Parties and IFD.
- 15.3. Notices and amendments to the Investment Agreement shall be in writing and addressed to the Investment Officer and the Project Participants as stated in the Project Plan.
 - Notices exchanged between the Parties shall be sent by email to the email addresses of the representatives of the respective Parties as stated in the Investment Agreement. It is the responsibility of each Party to inform IFD and the Project Leader on an ongoing basis of any changes to the email address provided. However, notices of termination, see Clause 13, including for breach, see Clause 14, shall be sent by registered letter on the same day as the email regarding the issue in question is sent.
- 15.4. The rights and obligations of the Project Participants under the Investment Agreement cannot be assigned to a third party. Mergers of public-sector institutions shall not constitute assignment under this provision.
- 15.5. Irrespective of the provisions of this Clause 15, Clause 15 shall not limit the powers arising from Clause 8.1.3 (regarding the Steering Committee's decision-making powers), Clause 3.4 and Clause 8.1.5 (regarding inclusion of new Project Participants) and Clause 6.1.4 and Clause 6.2 and Clause 7.3 (regarding amendments to the Project Plan and/or the Budget).

16. Governing law and legal venue

- 16.1. The Agreement shall be governed by Danish law, with the exception of Danish conflict of laws rules where such rules would lead to application of the law of another country.
- 16.2. Any dispute arising between the parties concerning this Agreement, including its interpretation and application, and which cannot be amicably settled, must, in so far as is possible under the Administration of Justice Act, section 225 and section 227, be brought before the Maritime and Commercial High Court as court of first instance.



17. Signatures

Each Project Participant receives one (1) electronic copy of the Investment Agreement and its Exhibits.

For Innovation Fund Denmark:					
Date: / 2024					
Søren Asp Mikkelsen VP Missions and Partnerships					
Project Partners:					
For [XX]:	For [YY]:	For [ZZ]:			
Date: / 202 <mark>x</mark>	Date: / 202 <mark>x</mark>	Date: / 202 <mark>x</mark>			
Name Title	Name Title	Name <i>Title</i>			
Project Contributors:					
For <mark>[AA]</mark> : Date: / 202 <mark>x</mark>	For <mark>[BB]</mark> : Date: / 202 <mark>x</mark>	For <mark>[CC]</mark> : Date: / 202 <mark>x</mark>			
Name Title	Name Title	Name Title			